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THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

CHARLESTON DIVISION
Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and )  Civil Action No. 2:25-cv-12848-BHH
Chaplaincy, )
)
Plaintiff, ) VERIFIED AMENDED COMPLAINT
) FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTIVE
V. ) RELIEF AND DAMAGES
)
Anglican Church in North America, )  Jury Trial Demanded for Legal Claims
)
Defendant. )
)

Plaintiff Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy by and through its undersigned
counsel, brings this action against Defendant Anglican Church in North America for permanent
injunctive relief and damages for violations of Sections 32 and 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C.
§§ 1114(1) and 1125(a), the Defend Trade Secrets Act, 18 U.S.C. Section 1836, the South Carolina
Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, et seq., and the South Carolina Trade
Secrets Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-10, ef seq.

INTRODUCTION

To avoid confusion and thwart any attempt to recast this lawsuit, it is critical to clarify what
this case is, and is not, about. This case is not about a congregation, subject to the jurisdiction and
oversight of a hierarchical judicatory, attempting to procure a judicial imprimatur for ecclesiastical
schism. Nor does this case relate to employment within the church, church governance, or any
other issue that falls within the ecclesiastical abstention doctrine of the First Amendment to the
U.S. Constitution.

Moreover, what is emphatically not in this Complaint is a dispute between the parties

concerning church discipline, church governance, or any other ecclesiastical matter.
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This case is solely about the intentional unlawful actions of a corporation through its CEO
and agents in concert with members of the plaintiff corporation to discredit plaintiff corporation’s
CEO and appropriate its identity, property, employees, and members. Plaintiff and Defendant may
have cohabited for years, but the relationship has been abusive and upon its ending, Defendant is
attempting essentially to destroy Plaintiff and assume control of all its property and important
relationships. In this lawsuit, Plaintiff interposes the protections of trademark law, trade secrets
laws, and unfair competition law for the sake of its very survival.

SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT

1. Plaintiff Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy (“Plaintiff” or “JAFC”),
an Alabama church corporation, has invested years of effort, and millions of dollars, to become
the entity designated by the U.S. Department of War and other agencies to endorse Anglican
Chaplains® for service in military and civilian agencies. Other Anglican provinces and dioceses,
except for the Episcopal Church USA, may submit individuals for consideration to become
Anglican Chaplains® through transfer to Plaintiff’s jurisdiction. Plaintiff owns three valuable
trademarks that identify it and its services.

2. Defendant the Anglican Church in North America (“ACNA”) has used Plaintift’s
registered trademarks to interfere with Plaintiff’s relationships with other Anglican church
institutions and chaplains.

3. On September 21, 2025, Defendant staged a failed corporate takeover, claiming,
without authority, to suspend Plaintiff’s corporate president and designating a stranger to exercise
his functions. When Plaintiff terminated its relationship with Defendant the following day, ACNA
contacted Plaintiff’s governmental and civilian partners to induce them to end their relationships

with Plaintiff. ACNA also published reports accessible to all of the hundreds of chaplains endorsed
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by Plaintiff, using Plaintiff’s registered marks while deprecating Plaintiff and falsely claiming that
it had assumed Plaintiff’s power to endorse Anglicans for chaplaincy services. ACNA used email
addresses and phone numbers it stole from Plaintiff’s confidential databases to communicate its
hostile message to every one of Plaintiff’s member chaplains and their employers. ACNA’s
aggressively hostile public relations campaign has significantly harmed Plaintiff’s good
reputation. ACNA’s misrepresentations and use of Plaintiff’s marks have induced approximately
half of Plaintiff’s chaplains, and at least two-thirds of Plaintiff’s affiliated missions, chapels and
parishes, to end their affiliation with Plaintiff.

4. The instant action for injunctive relief and damages seeks to halt Defendant’s
attempt to destroy Plaintiff and usurp its ministry.

PARTIES

5. Plaintiff Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy is a not-for-profit church
corporation formed and validly existing in good standing under the laws of the State of Alabama.
Its principal office for the conduct of business is located at 1400 Highway 25, Brierfield, AL
35035. See Exhibit A.

6. Defendant Anglican Church in North America is a not-for-profit church corporation
formed and validly existing in good standing under the laws of the State of Pennsylvania. Its
principal office for the conduct of business is located at 440 Whilden Street, Mt. Pleasant, South
Carolina, which is the Office of its Archbishop, who also resides in South Carolina.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 (Diversity
of Citizenship) because the parties are of diverse citizenship, Plaintiff is from out of state, and

Plaintiff’s damages exceed the jurisdictional minimum, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1338
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(Trademarks and Unfair Competition) under 15 U.S.C. §1121 (Trademarks and Unfair
Competition) because this action seeks injunctive relief, damages, profits, costs, attorneys’ fees
and statutory damages under Sections 32 and 43(a) of the Lanham Act and under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1836(b)(1) (authorizing private civil actions for misappropriation of trade secrets).

8. The Court’s subject matter jurisdiction is not curtailed by the First Amendment’s
church autonomy doctrine, also known as the ecclesiastical abstention doctrine, for two reasons.
First, as set forth below, Plaintiff has never belonged to Defendant, has never been part of
Defendant, and has, consequently, never been subject to Defendant’s canonical rule. The matter
before the Court is therefore neither doctrinal nor concerning an internal church rift, but instead a
civil dispute between two independent corporations. Second, even if Plaintiff #ad been subject to
Defendant’s canons, nothing in Defendant’s canons creates an express or implied trust in
Plaintiff’s organization or assets in favor of Defendant.! A hierarchical church body can lay claim
to a subordinate church’s property only when “governing . . . documents make clear that [the
subordinate church body] accepted that [its] property . . . was held in trust for [superordinate]
church.” Prots. Episcopal Church v. Episcopal Church, 421 S.C. 211, 229-230, 806 SE2d 82, 92
(2017). Absent an express or implied trust, there can be no claim. “The mere fact of [a c]hurch’s
association with [a] denominational body, even an association lasting 200 years, does not by itself
support a finding that an implied trust was created.” First Presbyt. Church v. United Presbyt.
Church, 62 NY2d 110, 125 (N.Y. Ct. App. 1984). The Court must therefore not abstain but review

the canons for such trust language.

"In Jones v. Wolf, 443 US 595 (1979), the United States Supreme Court held that civil courts must
“examine certain religious documents, such as a church constitution, for language of trust in favor
of the general church. In undertaking such an examination, a civil court must take special care to
scrutinize the document in purely secular terms, and not to rely on religious precepts in determining
whether the document indicates that the parties have intended to create a trust.” Id. at 604. This
Court therefore must, applying neutral principles of law, determine whether a trust exists.
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9. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 over Plaintiff’s
claims for a violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“SCUTPA”) and the South
Carolina Trade Secrets Act because they are so related to the federal claims in the action that they
form part of the same case or controversy.

10. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) because the
Defendant resides in the State of South Carolina, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because
a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in the District of South Carolina.

11. Under Local Rule 3.01(A)(1) (D.S.C.), venue is proper in the Charleston Division
of the District Court of South Carolina because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the
claims in this action occurred in Charleston, South Carolina.

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS

12. The United States Constitution forbids the government to engage in religion, but
our national heritage encourages religious people to serve in government, including in military
service. The military services and other government institutions, when appropriate, are permitted
to employ chaplains to provide religious worship services and instruction to active-duty personnel
and others. However, government officials are not allowed to determine on their own who is
qualified to serve as a chaplain. They are required by law to rely upon ecclesiastical endorsing
organizations to train, qualify and supervise chaplains. Several of these ecclesiastical endorsing
organizations throughout the country are independent nonprofit church corporations.

Plaintiff has endorsed Anglican Chaplains since 2007

13. Plaintiff was founded in 2007 as an independent religious organization by
Lieutenant Colonel (USAF) (Ret.) Derek L.S. Jones (now Bishop Jones) and others for the purpose

of providing a spiritual residence, training and oversight to Anglican Chaplains® who serve in the
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military and other occupations, and to endorse chaplains from the Anglican tradition for
Government service. Plaintiff’s original name was The Deanery for the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy. Plaintiff also oversees churches established by it and under its oversight.

14.  Plaintiff was created as part of the Convocation of Anglicans in North America
(“CANA”), which was in turn part of the Church of Nigeria (Anglican Communion). Bishop Jones
has been Plaintiff’s head from its inception.

15.  Plaintiff and CANA both owed their existence to foundational disagreements over
theological and social issues within the Episcopal Church in the United States. CANA was
founded in 2005 to provide oversight to orthodox Anglican churches for African immigrant
communities in North America and to other congregations that had left the Episcopal Church over
these disagreements.

16.  After the schism in the Episcopal Church, former Episcopal clergy who wished to
serve as Chaplains could no longer in good conscience qualify for endorsement in government
service by the Episcopal Church. Bishop Jones founded Plaintiff in response to this need.

17. Plaintiff has been providing endorsement of Anglican chaplains as an essential
element of its purpose and function since its founding in 2007.

18. In 2009, Plaintiff was approved by the Armed Forces Chaplaincy Board as the
ecclesiastical endorsing organization for Anglican chaplains serving the U.S. Department of
Defense.

19. ACNA was founded in 2009, as a new Anglican entity with which the Convocation
of Anglicans in North America became a ministry partner. At that time, ACNA became part of
Plaintiff’s clientele of Anglican provinces and dioceses that sought Plaintiff’s endorsement for

their Chaplains.
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20. The Anglican Church, as whole, consists of dozens of individual religious
organizations, each autonomously governed, which credit The Church of England as part of their
spiritual heritage. The creation and dissolution of the British Empire gave rise to many national
churches, including the Church of Nigeria. In North America, congregations withdrawing from the
Episcopal Church founded multiple Anglican church groupings, of which ACNA was only one
among many. In Anglican church parlance, Anglican church groupings have autonomous existence
as “dioceses” or “provinces,” and from time to time such groups have shifted, and continue to
shift, their alliances and affiliations with each other.

21.  In the past, Plaintiff maintained affiliations with the Church of Nigeria (Anglican
Communion) and Defendant. Currently, Plaintiff is an independent ecclesiastical entity
unaffiliated with any other diocese or province of the Anglican Church.

22.  In 2007, Bishop Jones was first consecrated as an Anglican bishop working for the
Church of Nigeria (Anglican Communion) (but not as a Church of Nigeria bishop) and CANA.

23. In the same year, CANA first called upon Bishop Jones to become an endorser of
chaplains who work for the U.S. Government.

24. In 2010, Bishop Jones was received into the Church of Nigeria (Anglican
Communion) and CANA, and he assumed the title “Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.”

25. In 2012, the Deanery became known as the Diocese of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy. Plaintiff expanded the scope of its activity to provide endorsement of Anglican
Chaplains® who were from Anglican provinces and dioceses outside of CANA.

26. In 2013, Plaintiff adopted the name Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and

Chaplaincy.
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Plaintiff’s Incorporation and Trademark Ownership

27.  In 2016, Plaintiff incorporated in Alabama under the name “Special Jurisdiction of
the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.” As a not-for-profit corporation and church, Plaintiff is tax
exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Plaintiff is governed by a board of
directors called its Executive Committee.

28.  From 2012 to the present, Plaintiff has provided ecclesiastical endorsement services
to ACNA and other Anglican provinces and dioceses solely as an independent supplier of such
services to its clients.

29.  Pursuant to regulations governing the endorsement of chaplains to serve in U.S.
federal governmental institutions, Plaintiff is the entity authorized to endorse Anglican
Chaplains®, including chaplains referred to Plaintiff from ACNA as well as other dioceses,
bishoprics, and provinces of the Anglican communion.

30. As an element of its relationship as ecclesiastical endorser, in most cases, Plaintiff
receives “letters dimissory” from each of the provinces and dioceses, including ACNA, that
transfer the canonical residency of the chaplain candidates to Plaintiff.

31. From ACNA’s founding in 2009 until the inception of this suit, no members of
ACNA’s churches became authorized to serve as Anglican Chaplains® in government service
except through transfer to Plaintiff’s jurisdiction and with Plaintiff’s endorsement.

32. From 2013 until February 1, 2024, Plaintiff’s ecclesiastical and corporate name was
“Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.”

33. From 2014 until September 22, 2025, Plaintiff authorized ACNA to use its name

(or former name), “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” to refer to Plaintiff’s
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ministry, although Plaintiff disapproved of Defendant’s uses of the phrase in its draft Canons and
told ACNA so.

34.  In 2016, Plaintiff applied to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) to
register as trademarks the phrase “Anglican Chaplains®” (the “Trademark”) and Plaintiff’s logo
containing the phrase “Anglican Chaplains Ad Gloriam Dei®” (the “Trademarked Logo™). In 2018,
the USPTO approved registration of the two requested marks.

35.  In 2020, Plaintiff applied to the USPTO to register the name “Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” as a service mark (the “Service Mark”). In 2023, the USPTO
approved Plaintiff’s Service Mark application and granted registration of the requested mark. A
copy of the USPTO’s online registry page showing Plaintiff’s marks is attached as Exhibit B. The
next year, Plaintiff changed its ecclesiastical and corporate name to “Jurisdiction of the Armed
Forces and Chaplaincy.”

Plaintiff was a substantial enterprise on September 21, 2025

36. Plaintiff’s chaplaincy endorsement function is a corollary to its existence as an
Anglican church entity, which primarily performs sacramental and religious ministry for its
parishes, missions, and chapels throughout the United States. As of September 21, 2025, Plaintiff
had more than thirty such church entities for military and non-military membership in the United
States and abroad.

37. As of September 21, 2025, Plaintiff was the ecclesiastical endorsing organization
for numerous employers of Anglican Chaplains® in a variety of governmental and non-
governmental institutional settings including hospitals, hospices, and the armed forces, as well as
correctional and educational institutions, and in a variety of other settings around the world.

Plaintiff endorses Anglican Chaplains® who provide ministry on university campuses, on Naval
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warships with Sailors and Marines, with U.S. Special Forces in Africa, in hospitals and
correctional facilities, with American Soldiers at war, at U.S. Air Force Bases in Europe and Asia,
internationally to other Anglican provinces, at rodeos, with bikers, with Civil Air Patrol cadets, in
cities within refuse dumps in Latin America, and more.

38.  Plaintiff supplies Anglican Chaplains® to serve the United States Armed Forces;
the U.S. Veterans Administration; the U.S. Department of Justice; Bureau of Prisons; Secret
Service; as well as a host of non-governmental agencies who require their chaplains to have
ecclesiastical endorsement. As a “Form 100 endorsing agency with the Department of Defense,
Plaintiff is the endorsing agency for chaplains who profess membership as Anglicans. Thus, as a
matter of employer (including governmental) regulation, Plaintiff must accept and serve chaplains
who come from all Anglican provinces, dioceses, and other Anglican religious institutions,
including ACNA.

39.  As of September 21, 2025, Plaintiff was the ecclesiastical endorsing organization
for nearly three hundred Anglican Chaplains® in the employment of U.S. Government agencies
and other organizations. In addition, Plaintiff was providing (and still provides) ecclesiastical
endorsements for chaplains from, inter alia, the Church of Nigeria; the Church of Ghana; the
Church of Kenya; and the Reformed Episcopal Church. In providing these endorsements, Plaintiff
acts as a contractor for Anglican dioceses and provinces, including ACNA.

40. Plaintiff has been a great success story among the Anglican churches as it built
Anglican chaplaincy from a single chaplain in 2007 to a corps of more than 300 Anglican
Chaplains® in 2025. As of September 21, 2025, Plaintiff benefited from annual income, mainly

from the gifts and tithes of its membership, of approximately $1,200,000.

10
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ACNA’s Campaign to Usurp Plaintiff and its Essential Relationships

41. On September 21, 2025, ACNA interfered with the governance of Plaintiff by
purporting to “inhibit” the activities of Plaintiff’s CEO and ecclesiastical head, Bishop Jones. The
inhibition was designed to enable ACNA to usurp Plaintiff’s chaplain-endorsement authority and
take over control of Plaintiff’s global network of parishes, missions, and chapels. This interference
was and is unacceptable to Plaintiff, and Plaintiff made this clear to ACNA.

42. On September 21, 2025, Archbishop Steve Wood sent a letter “to the Chaplains
Domiciled in or Licensed by the Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” (the
“9/21 Wood Letter”). A copy of the 9/21 Wood Letter is attached as Exhibit C. On information
and belief, Wood sent the 9/21 Wood letter to all chaplains who are currently endorsed by Plaintiff.
About 80% of the Anglican Chaplains® who are endorsed by Plaintiff are canonically resident
(members of or domiciled) in JAFC, while 20% are merely licensed to function as chaplains while
canonically resident elsewhere.

43. In the 9/21 Wood Letter, ACNA represented to the Anglican Chaplains® and the
wider world that Bishop Jones had been “inhibited . . . from the exercise of his ministry” and that
“the Vicar General of the Special Jurisdiction will serve as the interim endorser of chaplains.”

44. ACNA had no authority to designate a Vicar General to serve as an endorser of
chaplains. Plaintiff is the authority for the endorsement of Anglican Chaplains®, by designation
from the U.S. Government. ACNA possessed no “endorsement” authority from any governmental
or civil entity. ACNA’s 9/21 Wood Letter interfered with Plaintiff’s endorsing relationships, both
with the Anglican Chaplains® and with the agencies with whom the Anglican Chaplains® serve.

45. Plaintiff’s governing documents specify that Bishop Jones is the officer responsible

for exercising Plaintiff’s authority to endorse chaplains; and in the event Bishop Jones is

11
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unavailable to do so, the authority is to be exercised by Plaintiff’s Bishop Coadjutor or Bishop
Suffragan (of which Plaintiff possesses two, neither of whom is ACNA’s “Vicar General”).

46.  Eight persons are directors and members of Plaintiff’s Executive Committee: Lt.
Col. David van Esselstyn (USMC Retired), Chairman; Colonel Laura B. Strange (USA, Retired),
Recording Secretary and Chaplain; Dr. William Crunk; Colonel Randy Puhrmann (USAF,
Retired); The Venerable David James Baker; Bill Carroll; Joseph M. Saloom, Esq.; and Samantha
Vance. Bishop Jones is Plaintiff’s President.

47. On September 22, 2025, Archbishop Wood sent his misleading information to “all
of the SJFAC chaplains for whom the province has contact information, with the request that they
forward this communication to other chaplains who are Domiciled in or Licensed by the Special
Jurisdiction for the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.” On information and belief, ACNA intended
this communication to be circulated to all Anglican Chaplains® endorsed by Plaintiff.

48. On September 22, 2025, in a letter (the “Termination Letter”) signed by Executive
Committee Chairman David van Esselstyn, Plaintiff notified ACNA “that the Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy is terminating its affiliation with the ACNA . . .” The letter went on
to instruct ACNA that “You may not meet nor contact our member Chaplains or use the trademark
Anglican Chaplains.” A copy of the Termination Letter is attached as Exhibit D.

49. On September 23, 2025, Plaintiff’s lawyers sent a “cease and desist letter” to
ACNA. Inter alia, Plaintiff instructed ACNA not to use its registered marks, including without
limitation its service mark “Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” or its trademark

2

“Anglican Chaplains®,” and not to interfere with the contracts and business relationships of

Plaintiff and Bishop Jones. ACNA was instructed specifically not to use the phrase “Special

12
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Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” or any variation of it in any publication. A copy
of the “cease and desist letter” is attached as Exhibit E.

50.  ACNA has flatly disregarded Plaintiff’s warnings and has continued to appropriate
Plaintiff’s protected marks, usurp Plaintiff’s ecclesiastical and commercial identity, and disparage
Plaintiff and its leadership. ACNA’s communications are designed to mislead the general public,
including Plaintiff’s members and persons with whom Plaintiff has longstanding official relations
and contracts, into believing that ACNA has replaced Plaintiff as the endorsing agency for
Anglican Chaplains® working for the U.S. Government and others around the world.

51.  Until September 21, 2025, ACNA had never used the phrase “Special Jurisdiction
of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” except to refer to Plaintiff and its ministry to Anglican
Chaplains®, and Plaintiff never authorized ACNA to use the phrase in any other way.

52. Plaintiff’s termination of affiliation with ACNA on September 22, 2025, did not
alter its status as endorsing entity for Anglican Chaplains®. Nor did the termination affect
Plaintiff’s willingness, ability, or commitment to continue to endorse chaplains referred by ACNA
(and specifically by its member dioceses). However, it revoked from ACNA any appearance of
authority to use Plaintiff’s service-marked name, “Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy,” and Plaintiff’s prior corporate name, “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy.”

53. Nevertheless, on or about September 22, 2025, ACNA began to use Plaintiff’s
former name, “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” together with Plaintiff’s
trademarked logo in a vigorous public relations campaign designed to mislead the general public,

including without limitation other Anglican religious institutions, U.S. Government agencies, and

13
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Plaintiff-endorsed chaplains, into believing that ACNA had assumed control of Plaintiff and taken
charge of Plaintiff’s governmentally-licensed function of endorsing Anglican Chaplains®.

54. On September 22, 2025, Archbishop Wood sent a letter (the “9/22 Wood Letter”)
to Colonel David Wake, the Executive Director of the Armed Forces Chaplaincy Board (“AFCB”),
one of Plaintiff’s most important governmental contacts. In the letter, Wood told the AFCB that
“[t]he ACNA’s former endorser, Bishop Derek Jones, has withdrawn from the ACNA and thus
can no longer serve as the Ecclesiastical Endorser for ACNA Chaplains.” This statement contained
two misrepresentations: first, that Bishop Jones was personally the designated ecclesiastical
endorser of Anglican Chaplains® (it is Plaintiff, not its Bishop), and second, that through Bishop
Jones, Plaintiff could no longer endorse chaplains of ACNA (which it can and, if requested, must
continue to do). A copy of the 9/22 Wood Letter is attached as Exhibit F.

55. The 9/22 Wood letter implicitly acknowledged that ACNA’s decision to
discontinue accrediting ACNA member chaplains through Plaintiff left it, for a time, without a
path for endorsement of ACNA chaplains: it represented to the AFCB that “ACNA is in the process
of appointing a new Ecclesiastical Endorser...to ensure continuity of pastoral care and
compliance with Department of Defense requirements.”

56. While ACNA was acknowledging to the AFCB that it needed to locate a new
“endorser,” it was still knowingly misrepresenting to the general public, through the 9/21 Wood
Letter, that its Vicar General “will serve as the interim endorser of [a//] chaplains.”

57. As a result of the Wood 9/22 Letter, on September 24, 2025, Colonel Wake

(113

provisionally changed Plaintiff’s relationship with the AFCB to “‘pending status’ for reapplication

once a suitable Religious Organization is identified and provides written authority to the

14
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Jurisdiction of Armed Forces and Chaplaincy to act on their behalf.” A copy of Colonel Wake’s
September 24 letter is attached as Exhibit G.

58.  After corresponding with Plaintiff, the AFCB rescinded its September 24 notice
and restored Plaintiff’s ecclesiastical endorsing organization status on September 26. A copy of
the AFCB September 26 rescission letter is attached as Exhibit H.

59.  Former Archbishop Robert Duncan was a co-leader of ACNA’s takeover attempt.
Wood appointed him to be the pastoral and episcopal shepherd to the chaplains of the Special
Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.

60. At a meeting, unauthorized by JAFC, held on September 22, 2025, with JAFC
chaplains, Duncan indicated his willingness to serve as interim chaplaincy endorser for JAFC,
implying he would replace its CEO Bishop Jones in that function. He stated, “what Archbishop
Steve Wood relayed to me was to say that if there was an interim endorser needed — and this was
earlier on as we were going through this crisis — he would ask me to serve as the interim endorser
and I signified to him that I was certainly willing to do that — if needed. And I would of course
endorse any JAFC chaplains who were presently serving and that remained with Anglican Church
of North America.” Worse yet, Duncan then said, “you are an Anglican [chaplain] as long as
you’re part of ACNA,” insidiously implying that those chaplains who remained with Bishop Jones
were not Anglican.

61. On September 23, 2025, ACNA published a letter (the “9/23 Wood Letter”)
promoting the “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” and declaring that “[t]he
Special Jurisdiction, under which the chaplains serve, continues to exist within the ACNA
regardless of Bishop Jones’s withdrawal or the withdrawal of any entities under his control.”

(emphasis added). A copy of the 9/23 Wood Letter is attached as Exhibit 1.
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62. The statements in the 9/23 Wood Letter were materially false. Anglican Chaplains®
serve under the authority of the ecclesiastical endorsing organization that endorses them. By
designation of the Armed Forces Chaplaincy Board, the United States Veterans Administration,
and many other government and non-Governmental departments and agencies, Plaintiff, not
ACNA, has been designated as the endorsing organization for Anglican Chaplains®.

63. ACNA’s assertion that Anglican Chaplains® “serve” ACNA through its
purportedly continuing “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” was false: as
of September 23, 2025, all Anglican Chaplains® “served” under the authority of Plaintiff as they
were required to do to receive Plaintiff’s endorsement. ACNA had never been designated as an
ecclesiastical endorsing organization, no recognized Anglican Chaplains® “served” it in their
capacity as chaplains, and absent institutional designations which it lacked, it had no power to
confer ecclesiastical endorsements for institutional chaplaincy.

64.  Asalegacy of its former relationship with Plaintiff, ACNA has an empty space in
its governing documentation that still uses Plaintiff’s name to refer to a ministry—Plaintiff’s
ministry of institutional chaplaincy—which ACNA can no longer claim to perform. Yet ACNA’s
documentation still holds itself out as having a “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy” governed by a “Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.” ACNA is using
Plaintiff’s name and Bishop Jones’s title to recruit chaplains to ACNA.

65. On September 25, 2025, ACNA published a new press release (the “9/25 Release™)
on its website announcing that it had deposed Bishop Jones from his title as Bishop of the Armed
Forces and Chaplaincy and elected Bishop Jerome R. Cayangyang to replace him. It announced
that “Bishop Cayangyang will provide leadership, pastoral care, and oversight for Anglican clergy

serving as chaplains in the United States Armed Forces, federal and state agencies, hospitals, and
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other specialized institutions to ensure these chaplains remain connected to the wider church in
their unique callings and provide spiritual covering for their families and ministries.” These
functions are a part of what Plaintiff does for all its chaplains including those who are affiliated
with ACNA. A copy of the 9/25 Release is attached as Exhibit J.

66.  ACNA’s actions did not, in fact, depose Bishop Jones from his bishopric as Bishop
of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy. He continues in that role as head of Plaintiff. But by
purporting to give Cayangyang an identical title, ACNA appropriated the mantle of Plaintiff’s head
and cast Bishop Jones into ill repute.

67. The 9/25 Release appeared to concede that ACNA had misrepresented its authority
to endorse its own chaplains when it noted that ACNA had contacted the armed forces, the
Department of Veterans Affairs and the Federal Bureau of Prisons about its intention to find
another entity to replace Plaintiff as the Ecclesiastical Endorsing Organization for ACNA-
affiliated chaplains, and had received an assurance from Colonel Wake that no chaplain should be
“concerned about their endorsement or ability to serve the Armed Forces” in the interim.

68. On September 26, 2025, ACNA published a letter from Bishop Phil Ashey (the
“Ashey Letter””) which falsely asserted that ACNA had created Plaintiff (referring to Plaintiff’s
name from 2013 to 2024). The Ashey Letter also contained the following statement: “Bishop
Jones has no authority . . . to declare that all ACNA Chaplains in the SJAFC are no longer a part
of the ACNA.” But this was a misrepresentation: Bishop Jones never made any such declaration.
To the contrary, as the endorser of Anglican Chaplains®, Plaintiff considers itself duty-bound to
continue to endorse ACNA-related chaplains. A copy of the Ashey Letter is attached as Exhibit K.

69. ACNA’s campaign to replace Plaintiff has caused confusion among Plaintiff’s

partners, and has already harmed Plaintiff by reducing Plaintiff’s income by at least fifty percent
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and causing 25 of Plaintiff’s approximately 30 missions, parishes and chapels to disaffiliate with
Plaintiff.

70.  ACNA’s campaign to replace Plaintiff is also harming Plaintiff by causing
Anglican Chaplains® to disassociate with Plaintiff. ACNA’s campaign of unfair competition has
induced at least one hundred Anglican Chaplains® (out of approximately 300) to cut ties with
Plaintiff, with continuing losses.

71.  ACNA has influenced former JAFC chaplain Richard West to interfere with
JAFC’s relationship with the Department of War. West is a Colonel in the U.S. Army who is
employed by the Department of War and exercises control over the approval of DD Form 2088,
which is the ecclesiastical form for endorsement of chaplains.

72.  In September 2025, West misrepresented to his supervisor, the Executive Director
of the Armed Forces Chaplains Board, that JAFC belongs to ACNA, in an unsuccessful attempt to
remove Bishop Jones as the chaplaincy endorser from JAFC.

73. West’s actions continue to damage JAFC. To date, West has only allowed the
processing of a single new DD 2088 form allowing Plaintiff to endorse chaplains, putting JAFC
chaplains currently serving in jeopardy of removal as chaplains. At the same time, he has been
calling JAFC chaplains by telephone to intimidate them into leaving JAFC, in violation of DoD
Instruction 1300.17.

74.  Plaintiff has been forced to cut its staff as a direct result of ACNA’s attacks on
Plaintiff’s reputation and its raid on Plaintiff’s membership.

ACNA ’s theft of Plaintiff’s proprietary information through
manipulation of Plaintiff’s personnel

75. On information and belief, ACNA had been pressuring Lawrence McElrath, a key

employee of Plaintiff—and, by extension, his wife Megan McElrath—to betray JAFC and to act
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as double agents within JAFC on behalf of ACNA.

76.  Lawrence McElrath was a JAFC chaplain and served as Provost of JAFC until
September 28, 2025. The position of Provost is an important position of trust and authority within
JAFC. He had also been serving as Wood’s personal chaplain.

77.  Megan McElrath served in the role of Administrative Specialist to Plaintiff, and
reported directly to Plaintiff’s Chief Administrative Officer, Lauren Ullman. Megan McElrath’s
role placed her in charge of updating Plaintiff’s personnel records and the records of chaplains
seeking to be endorsed by Plaintiff. She also had access to all of Plaintiff’s folders used to store
such records and was essentially at the heart of key information relating to Plaintiff’s chaplaincy
endorsement services.

78.  During the week of September 15, 2025, at a JAFC training event for its endorsed
chaplains, Lawrence McElrath informed JAFC personnel that ACNA had reduced his salary for
acting as Wood’s chaplain by 80%.

79. On information and belief, this information was conveyed to intentionally mislead
Plaintiff’s leadership into believing there was a disconnect between Wood and Lawrence McElrath
and thus distract Plaintiff from the McElraths’ theft of Plaintiff’s confidential business
information.

80. Between September 15 and September 28, 2025, Lawrence McElrath continued
publicly to express support for JAFC in its relationship with ACNA.

81.  The McElraths accessed numerous confidential JAFC records more than 30 times
between September 15 and September 28, including personnel rosters, accession files, chaplain

contact lists, seminarian data, and other sensitive internal documents.

19



2:25-cv-12848-BHH Date Filed 12/22/25  Entry Number 35 Page 20 of 54

82. Because of Lawrence McElrath’s reassurances and his deliberate concealment of
his betrayal of Plaintiff, Plaintiff had no reason to terminate either Lawrence or Megan McElrath’s
employment and access to Plaintiff’s confidential business information during that time period.

83.  Plaintiff learned of the betrayal only during this litigation when ACNA revealed
that on September 20, 2025, Lawrence McElrath sent a letter to Wood asking for ACNA’s
episcopal oversight of Plaintiff.

84.  Lawrence McElrath never mentioned this letter or his clear allegiance to ACNA to
Plaintiff or its leadership.

85.  Lawrence McElrath sent this letter without any authorization from Plaintiff’s
leadership while nevertheless purporting to act on Plaintiff’s behalf. He used Plaintiftf’s letterhead,
which includes Plaintiff’s Registered Trademark Logo, and his official title with Plaintiff.

86.  Lawrence and Megan McElrath’s access to Plaintiff’s database was terminated on
September 28, the day Plaintiff learned of Lawrence’s betrayal through a conversation he had with
Ryan Davis, Plaintiff’s Chief Operating Officer.

87. The JAFC files that the McElraths took include the following:

a. JAFC Personnel PowerApp (“PowerApp”): containing all chaplains’ names,
phone numbers, addresses, email addresses, family information, assignment
information and photos (Megan McElrath, Lawrence McElrath and Jay
Cayangyang had access);

b. JAFC Personnel Database (“Personnel DB”): containing all stored information
JAFC had concerning every current and former member of JAFC (Megan
McElrath had access);

c. Accessions Working Group Sharepoint (““Accessions Files”): containing all of
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JAFC’s information on prospective and current applicants, including all
applicant personnel files (Megan McElrath and Lawrence McElrath had
access);

Personnel Records Folder (“Personnel Records”): containing all files stored for
each JAFC member and employee including sensitive information received in
the course of conducting background checks (Megan McElrath had access);
Members-only Secure Sharepoint (“Members Site”): a site for members of
JAFC that includes all company policies and essential documents (Megan

McElrath, Lawrence McElrath, Jay Cayangyang and Rich West had access).

88.  Acting as agents of ACNA while still purporting to represent JAFC, the McElraths

accessed and copied sensitive financial information (hereinafter “JAFC Proprietary Information™)

in, inter alia, the following ways:

a.

Megan McElrath — On September 19, 2025, Megan McElrath downloaded an

MS Excel file to her personal computer called “JAFC Accessions Tracking”
that contained sensitive JAFC Proprietary Information concerning individuals
who were applying or who had applied for chaplaincy endorsements through
JAFC,;

On September 20, 2025, Megan McElrath accessed the Personnel Records files;
On September 23, 2025, Megan McElrath accessed the Accessions Files and
JAFC’s tracking system for accessions and the Members Site.

On September 23, 2025, Megan McElrath created a backup file of the entire
JAFC database (including all the files identified above) on her personal

computer.
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e. Lawrence McElrath — On September 21, 2025, Lawrence McElrath accessed

a file consisting of the JAFC Letterhead from an email he had previously
received.

f.  On September 22, 2025, he accessed materials in a folder labeled “Governance”
on the Members Site, containing company policy letters.

g. On September 23, 2025, Lawrence McElrath opened and viewed the following
documents on JAFC’s Members Site: JAFC Vesting Policy, JAFC Canons and
JAFC Constitution.

h. Jay Cayangyang — On September 20, 2025, Jay Cayangyang forwarded to

JAFC’s chaplains on behalf of ACNA an email “Fw: A Note from the
Chancellor to Provide Clarity” with the attachment “Letter to
Chaplains[40].pdf.” On information and belief, he obtained the list of email
addresses for JAFC’s chaplains from the JAFC Proprietary Information, either
directly or indirectly through the McElraths;

1. On September 21, 2025, Cayangyang forwarded an email to JAFC’s chaplains
on behalf of ACNA entitled “Fw: HOT — An Important Message from the
Archbishop of the ACNA” with an attachment “Letter to the SJFAC regarding
Bishop Jones’ Inhibition.pdf”’; on information and belief, he obtained the list of
email addresses for JAFC’s chaplains from the JAFC Proprietary Information.

j-  Rich West — on September 18 and September 20, 2025, West accessed the
Governance folder on the Members Site.

k. On September 20, 2025, West accessed the JAFC.jpg file which is JAFC’s

trademarked company image.
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l.  On September 24, 2025, West accessed a recording on the Members Site
entitled “All Hands Meeting.”

89. On information and belief, the McElraths provided the JAFC Proprietary
Information to ACNA in breach of their fiduciary duties to JAFC. On information and belief,
ACNA used the JAFC Proprietary Information to contact Plaintiff’s members and their employers
and to pressure them to abandon JAFC.

90. The JAFC Proprietary Information includes sensitive and private information
concerning Plaintiff’s members, including, inter alia, their identities, details of their employments,
their home and work addresses, birthdates, Social Security numbers, contact details including
telephone numbers and email addresses, medical and pharmaceutical histories, details concerning
their spouses and children, answers to questions concerning criminal history, drug and alcohol use,
sexual histories, financial resources, work histories, military service histories, and religious
confessions.

91. The JAFC Proprietary Information also includes information concerning past and
present military, governmental or ecclesiastical employers of Plaintiff’s members, including issues
that the employers have faced and are facing with finances, congregants, and members of the
military and civilian workforce to whom Plaintiff’s members minister.

92. Neither JAFC nor its member chaplains or chaplain employers consented to the
release of the JAFC Proprietary information.

93. After the termination of access to their accounts on September 28, the McElraths

attempted multiple times to log back into JAFC online files.
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94.  Lawrence and Megan McElrath now serve on Jay Cayangyang’s staff in the
chaplaincy-endorsement organization that ACNA has formed to serve as a replacement and
substitute for JAFC.

ACNA’s Motivation

95. ACNA’s actions, on information and belief, were motivated by the malice of
ACNA'’s leadership, including Archbishop Wood, toward Plaintiff’s leader, Bishop Jones.

96.  ACNA'’s grievances against JAFC and Bishop Jones stem from a history of bad
faith behavior from Wood, including allegations of sexual misconduct and abuse of power against
him, that Bishop Jones refused to assist in covering up.

97. On information and belief, Wood has exhibited animosity toward Bishop Jones
since at least January 2019, when JAFC clergy members witnessed Wood making derogatory
remarks and uttering curses directed toward Bishop Jones while Jones was presenting a report
during a meeting.

98. In June 2024, when Wood was a candidate for election as Archbishop of ACNA,
he made promises to Bishop Jones, Bishop Michael Williams, and Bishop Mark Nordstrom
(collectively, the “Bishops™) that he would help resolve matters that adversely affected the
business relationship between JAFC and ACNA and which prevented JAFC from being part of
ACNA. These reassurances secured the Bishops’ support for Wood’s election as Archbishop.

99. That same month, Archbishop Wood was elected in that role. He was installed as
Archbishop in October 2024.

100. In October 2024, Wood reneged on his commitment to helping to resolve JAFC’s
issues in its relationship with ACNA. Instead, he threatened to remove Bishop Jones from his

position as Bishop of JAFC by any available means.
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101. Inor about May 2025, JAFC officers discovered that an Anglican bishop had failed
to notify law enforcement, as required by law, after having received a valid notification that an
applicant for a ministerial position with ACNA may have been implicated in a child pornography
offense. Bishop Jones reported this to Wood, as well as another incident of potential misconduct
by a different bishop, expecting Wood to commence disciplinary actions in both instances.

102. In June 2025, it became apparent that Wood was deliberately ignoring Bishop
Jones’s concerns, and Bishop Jones informed Wood that he intended to make his concerns known
to the body that supervised Wood’s work.

103. That same month, Bishop Jones learned a former employee of Wood had made
allegations of sexual misconduct against him. Bishop warned Wood that he should come clean
about the allegations if they were in fact true, but Wood never did.

104.  On information and belief, this triggered concern from Wood that Bishop Jones
would make the allegations concerning Wood’s conduct more widely known.

105. Apparently, Archbishop Wood saw Bishop Jones as a threat because of his
knowledge of Wood’s misconduct.

106. On information and belief, Wood instigated his actions against Bishop Jones, and
his attempted takeover of JAFC, at least partly for the purpose of covering up wrongdoing
involving Wood and ACNA.

107. By the end of August 2025, any semblance of a working relationship between JAFC
and ACNA had broken down.

108. ACNA’s tone toward JAFC turned threatening.
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109. On September 18, 2025, former Archbishop Robert Duncan threatened Bishop
Jones that he “will be remembered as a scoundrel.” A copy of the email in which Duncan made
this threat is attached as Exhibit Q.

110.  Bishop Jones tried to salvage a working relationship between JAFC and ACNA, to
no avail.

111.  On September 21, 2025, Wood misused Title IV of the ACNA Constitution and
Canons as a vehicle to launch his campaign against Plaintiff, as detailed above.

112.  On information and belief, this campaign was deliberately timed to distract from
the threat of release of accusations against Wood.

113.  On October 23, 2025, the Washington Post reported allegations against Wood,

including sexual misconduct, bullying, and plagiarism. https://www.washingtonpost.com

/investigations/2025/10/23/anglican-church-archbishop-misconduct/. A copy of the article is also
attached as Exhibit R.2
114. Wood is now inhibited from his role as Archbishop.

115. During Wood’s inhibition, ACNA’s raid on JAFC is being led by Bishop Julian

2 Following the Washington Post’s article, numerous media outlets and agencies also reported the
allegations. A small sampling of those reports follows: The New York Times
https://www.nytimes.com/2025/10/23/us/anglican-church-stephen-wood.html ~ (Exhibit S);
Charleston City Paper https://charlestoncitypaper.com/2025/10/23/anglican-archbishop-accused-
of-misconduct/ (Exhibit T); The Post and Courier
https://www.postandcourier.com/news/anglican-church-archbishop-archbishop-stephen-
wood/article_309cd925-2ce7-4d01-af40-0891d3362b17.html (Exhibit U); Religion News Service
https://religionnews.com/2025/10/23/acna-archbishop-steve-wood-accused-of-sexual-mis
conductacna-scaffold/ (Exhibit V); Associated Press https://apnews.com/article/conservative-us-
anglicans-misconduct-allegations-archbishop-e21e6436abb31436fc8590efb1df15f (Exhibit W);

On November 7, 2025, a second allegation of sexual harassment was brought against Archbishop
Wood. It was reported, among others, here: https://www.msn.com/en-us/society-culture-and-
history/social-issues/second-woman-says-n-american-anglican-church-archbishop-sexually-
harassed-her/ar-AA1PZpLT?ocid=BingNewsVerp (Exhibit X).
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Dobbs. As Dean of ACNA, Dobbs is Wood’s principal aide, and on information and belief, Dobbs
has been involved at every step of ACNA’s attempt to take over or destroy Plaintiff.

116.  On information and belief, Dobbs is also motivated by malice toward Plaintiff and
Bishop Jones in directing ACNA’s actions against JAFC. Dobbs has had a grudge against Bishop
Jones and JAFC since 2019 when they confronted Dobbs over significant financial indiscretions
that Dobbs had committed against JAFC and its employees.

117.  Further, during the June 2024 conclave of bishops to elect a new Archbishop of
ACNA, Bishop Jones prevented Dobbs from being considered by making it clear that he would
expose the financial indiscretions Dobbs committed against the JAFC in 2019. Dobbs withdrew
from consideration.

118.  During Wood’s inhibition, Dobbs is effectively the acting Archbishop of ACNA.

COUNT I — Infringement of Registered Service Mark

119. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 118, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

120. Plaintiff is engaged in the ministry of providing endorsements of individual
chaplains who follow the Anglican form of Christian religion to serve with government agencies
and other institutions that require chaplains to have an ecclesiastical sponsor.

121.  Plaintiff’s current name “Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” (the
“Service Mark™) has been duly registered with the USPTO as a protected service mark with the
serial number 90265640.

122.  The term “Anglican Chaplains®” is similarly a trademarked term, with the serial
number 87202112. The Trademarked Logo has been trademarked, with the serial number

87202220.
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123.  Plaintiff adopted the Service Mark to identify itself and promote public
understanding of its role and function in the oversight and endorsement of institutional chaplains.

124.  The registration of the Service Mark was recorded under Plaintiff’s former
corporate name, ‘“Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy (non-profit
corporation; Alabama, USA).” The Service Mark’s registration belongs to Plaintiff and is still
“live.”

125.  Plaintiff has actively used the Service Mark as its name since 2024, when it adopted
its present name. No other entity, to the best of Plaintiff’s knowledge, has ever used or claimed to
own the Service Mark. Every public announcement, item of correspondence, government
application and chaplaincy endorsement issued by Plaintiff since February 2024 has used the
Service Mark to identify Plaintiff, comprising thousands of communications and documents.

126.  All of Plaintiff’s annual income is connected to the recognition of Plaintiff, as
known by its Service Mark, by its members, their employers and the Anglican community, as an
invaluable supplier of spiritual services to chaplains, chaplain families, and the military and
civilian organizations.

127.  In 2024, Plaintiff’s income was approximately $1.2 million.

128. The Service Mark is associated solely with the Plaintiff. No other individual or
entity had ever used the mark or any phrase similar to the Service Mark, except with Plaintiff’s
temporary authorization, before September 22, 2025.

129. While Plaintiff was affiliated with it, ACNA used the Service Mark with the
addition of the word “Special” to authorize ACNA’s client relationship with Plaintiff. The phrase
that ACNA used, and continues to use, “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,”

was in fact Plaintiff’s official corporate name until February 2024.
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130.  After Plaintiff terminated its affiliation with the ACNA, Defendant asserted that it
controlled the “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.”

131.  ACNA used the phrase “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy”
to refer to itself in the 9/21 Wood Letter, the 9/23 Wood Letter, the 9/25 Press Release, the Ashey
Letter, and a page of its website entitled “News and Updates On the Inhibition of Bishop Derek
Jones And The Status Of The Special Jurisdiction Of The Armed Forces And Chaplaincy”
(“SJAFC”).

132.  ACNA also asserted that it would arrange for an alternative endorsement for
ACNA -affiliated chaplains who are currently endorsed by Plaintiff and assume all other functions
currently performed by Plaintiff.

133.  ACNA declared that the position occupied by Bishop Derek Jones, Bishop of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy, was “vacant” and announced that it had elected someone to replace
him.

134.  Since Bishop Jones continues to hold his position as Bishop of the Armed Forces
and Chaplaincy, ACNA is misrepresenting his “vacancy.” By electing a so-called successor, also
misleadingly called a “Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” ACNA has created a
duplicate, or sham, bishopric that misleads the community of government agencies for which
Plaintiff supplies ecclesiastical endorsements and dilutes the value of Plaintiff’s Service Mark.

135. ACNA’s use of Plaintiff’s former name, containing the full text of Plaintiff’s
Service Mark, and of an ecclesiastical title that was created for Bishop Jones and which he still
holds, is a concerted attempt to deceive users of Plaintiff’s goods and services into believing that

ACNA was the supplier and provider of Plaintiff’s services all along
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136. ACNA is attempting to usurp Plaintiff’s identity and role in the minds of Plaintiff’s
customer base and is using Plaintiff’s Service Mark unfairly to confuse government agencies and
chaplains into abandoning Plaintiff’s services and adopting ACNA itself or its new designee as an
endorsing agency in replacement of Plaintiff.

137. By endeavoring to usurp Plaintiff’s role, ACNA’s behavior constitutes unfair
competition.

138.  Plaintiff’s registration of the Service Mark gives Plaintiff the exclusive right to use
it.

139. Plaintiff told ACNA not to use Plaintiff’s Service Mark in a “cease and desist” letter
on September 25, 2025.

140. In brazen defiance of Plaintiff’s request, ACNA has violated Plaintiff’s exclusive
right to use its Service Mark and is continuing to violate it.

141. ACNA intentionally used the Service Mark, knowing such mark to be counterfeit,
in connection with the offering or distribution of services, in violation of Plaintiff’s rights.

142.  ACNA'’s use of the Service Mark was willful after September 22, 2025, having
received Plaintiff’s termination letter on that date and the “cease and desist” letter on September
25, 2025.

143.  ACNA’s use of the Service Mark entitles Plaintiff to recover (1) Defendant’s
profits, (2) any damages Plaintiff sustained, or such sum as the Court shall find to be just, according
to the circumstances of the case, and (3) the costs of the action pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).

144. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1118, Plaintiff is also entitled to a court order requiring
Defendant to destroy all articles within its possession and control that infringe on Plaintiff’s

protected marks.
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145. ACNA’s intentional use of a counterfeit duplicate of the Service Mark makes
ACNA liable for an award of treble profits or damages, together with Plaintiff’s attorney’s fees
and costs, pursuant to U.S.C. § 1117(b).

146. ACNA’s willful use of a counterfeit duplicate of the Service Mark makes ACNA
liable for statutory damages of up to two million dollars per counterfeit mark pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1117(c).

147.  ACNA’s receipt of Plaintiff’s termination letter on September 22, 2025, and
Plaintiff’s “cease and desist” letter on September 25, 2025, put an end to any claim on ACNA’s
part that it might have any authorization to use the Service Mark.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award profits, damages, costs, attorney’s
fees and/or statutory damages, whichever shall be greater, in an amount to be determined at trial
to Plaintiff and against Defendant, for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action. Plaintiff also
requests that the Court enter a Permanent Injunction against Defendant from use of its Service
Mark or any part thereof.

COUNT II — Infringement of Registered Trademarks

148.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 147, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

149. The Trademarked Logo is a distinctive logo. It contains the legend “Anglican
Chaplains Ad Dei Gloriam” in a two-pointed curved shield. It displays the symbols “Alpha” and
“Omega,” a small Saint George’s cross shield and a bishop’s crook with two crossed keys in purple
and gold in front of a diagonally-divided red-and-white field.

150. Bishop Jones designed the Trademarked Logo.
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151. Plaintiff’s registration of the Trademarked Logo gives Plaintiff the exclusive right
to use it.

152.  Plaintiff told ACNA not to use Plaintiff’s trademarks in the “cease and desist” letter
on September 25, 2025.

153. In brazen defiance of Plaintiff’s request, ACNA has violated Plaintiff’s exclusive
right to use its Trademarked Logo.

154. ACNA’s website displayed the Trademarked Logo (incorporating Plaintiff’s
Trademark “Anglican Chaplains®”) prominently on its home page as of September 30, 2025. A
copy of the page on that date is attached as Exhibit L.

155.  As of September 30, 2025, ACNA also displayed the Trademarked Logo

®9

(incorporating Plaintiff’s Trademark “Anglican Chaplains®”) on its website on another page. A

copy of the page on that date is attached as Exhibit M.

156. As of September 30, 2025, ACNA also displayed the Trademarked Logo

®99

(incorporating Plaintiff’s Trademark “Anglican Chaplains™”) on its website on another page. A

copy of the page on that date is attached as Exhibit N.

157. As of September 30, 2025, ACNA also displayed the Trademarked Logo

(incorporating Plaintiff’s Trademark “Anglican Chaplains®”

) on its website on another page. A
copy of the page at that date is attached as Exhibit O.
158. As of September 30, 2025, ACNA also displayed the Trademarked Logo

®99

(incorporating Plaintiff’s Trademark “Anglican Chaplains™”) on its website on another page. A

copy of the page at that date is attached as Exhibit P.
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159.  On information and belief, ACNA used the Trademarked Logo and the Trademark
at other times and in other publications since September 22, 2025, to confuse Plaintiff’s valuable
contacts into believing that they possessed Plaintiff’s properties, rights, powers, and identity.

160. ACNA’s use of the Trademarked Logo is also an infringement of the Trademark,
because the Trademarked Logo incorporates the trademarked phrase, “Anglican Chaplains®.”

161. ACNA intentionally used the Trademarked Logo and Trademark, knowing such
marks to be counterfeit marks, in connection with the offering or distribution of services, in
violation of Plaintiff’s rights.

162.  ACNA’s use of the Trademarked Logo and Trademark was willful after September
22, 2025, having received Plaintiff’s termination letter on that date and Plaintiff’s “cease and
desist” letter on September 25, 2025.

163. ACNA’s use of the Trademarked Logo and the Trademark entitles Plaintiff to
recover (1) Defendant’s profits; (2) any damages Plaintiff sustained, or such sum as the court shall
find to be just, according to the circumstances of the case; and (3) the costs of the action pursuant
to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).

164. ACNA’s intentional use of a counterfeit duplicate of the Trademarked Logo and
the Trademark makes ACNA liable for an award of treble profits or damages together with
Plaintiff’s attorney’s fees and costs, pursuant to U.S.C. § 1117(b).

165. ACNA’s willful use of a counterfeit duplicate of the Trademarked Logo and the
Trademark makes ACNA liable for statutory damages of up to two million dollars per counterfeit

mark pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(c).
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166. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1118, Plaintiff is also entitled to a court order requiring
Defendant to destroy all articles within its possession and control that infringe on Plaintiff’s
protected marks.

167. ACNA received Plaintiff’s termination letter on September 22, 2025, which put an
end to any claim on ACNA’s part that it might have any authorization to use the Trademarked
Logo and the Trademark.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award profits, damages, costs, attorney’s
fees and/or statutory damages, whichever shall be greater, in an amount to be determined at trial
to Plaintiff and against Defendant, for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action. Plaintiff also
requests that the Court enter a Permanent Injunction against Defendant from use of its
Trademarked Logo and Trademark or any part thereof.

COUNT III — Commercial Misrepresentation — Lanham Act §43(a)(1)(A)

168. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 167, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.
169. Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a), provides that:

(1) Any person who, on or in connection with any goods or services,
[ ] uses in commerce any word, term, name, symbol, or device,
or any combination thereof, or any false designation of origin,
false or misleading description of fact, or false or misleading
representation of fact, which—

(A)is likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to
deceive as to the affiliation, connection, or association of
such person with another person, or as to the origin,
sponsorship, or approval of his or her goods, services, or
commercial activities by another person, or

(B) in commercial advertising or promotion, misrepresents
the nature, characteristics, qualities, or geographic origin
of his or her or another person’s goods, services, or
commercial activities, shall be liable in a civil action by
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any person who believes that he or she is or is likely to
be damaged by such act.

170. ACNA’s violation of Section 43(a) entitles Plaintiff to a remedy.

171.  Plaintiff originated the use of the term “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces
and Chaplaincy” in interstate commerce in 2013, and from 2016 until 2024, that was Plaintiff’s
corporate name.

172.  Plaintiff continues to conduct under its present name the same activities that it
conducted from 2016 to 2024 under the name “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy,” and it never surrendered its right to the name to ACNA or any other person or entity.

173.  ACNA is now using the term “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy” in interstate commerce.

174. ACNA has used Plaintiff’s Trademark and Trademarked Logo in interstate
commerce after September 21, 2025.

175. Starting on September 21, 2025, ACNA began to use the term “Special Jurisdiction
of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” in interstate commerce to refer to itself and not to Plaintiff.

176. Both ACNA and Plaintiff are engaged in interstate commerce.

177.  ACNA has misled Anglican Chaplains® and their employers to believe that ACNA
possesses the capacity to endorse Anglican chaplains for employment and that Plaintiff and Bishop
Jones do not.

178.  ACNA has misled Anglican Chaplains® and their employers to believe that Plaintiff
is led by Bishop Jay Cayangyang and not by Bishop Jones and the Plaintiff’s Executive

Committee.
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179.  ACNA has misled Anglican Chaplains® and their employers to believe that the
ACNA’s Vicar General has the power to endorse Anglican Chaplains® for employment, which he
does not have.

180. ACNA is attempting to persuade the Anglican community that ACNA’s “Special
Jurisdiction,” and not Plaintiff, has been endorsing Anglican Chaplains® all along.

181. ACNA is attempting to persuade the Anglican community that ACNA’s ineffective
deposition of Bishop Jones from the leadership of Plaintiff has caused Plaintiff to lose the power
to endorse Anglican Chaplains®.

182. ACNA’s publications are likely to and have caused confusion among Anglican
Chaplains® and their employers.

183.  ACNA’s publications are likely to deceive Anglican Chaplains® and their
employers.

184. ACNA’s publications misrepresent ACNA’s ability to endorse Anglican
Chaplains®.

185. ACNA’s publications misrepresent Plaintiff’s power to endorse Anglican
Chaplains®.

186. ACNA'’s publications impugn Plaintiff’s continued legitimacy as an endorser of
Anglican Chaplains®.

187. ACNA’s publications misrepresent the identity of the person who is authorized to
decide upon an endorsement of Anglican Chaplains®.

188. ACNA’s false and misleading publications are confusing the general public,

including Anglican Chaplains® and their employers.
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189.  ACNA has tried to convince employers of Anglican Chaplains® including, without
limitation, the U.S. Department of Defense, that Plaintiff no longer is qualified to endorse
chaplains.

190.  On information and belief, ACNA has taken the foregoing actions with malice
toward Plaintiff, intending to harm Plaintiff.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks the Court permanently to enjoin ACNA from publishing
misrepresentations about Plaintiff, its services and staff, including without limitation enjoining
Defendant from the use of the terms “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,”
“Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” “Anglican Chaplains®” and “Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” in interstate commerce, and to award profits or treble damages,
costs, and attorney’s fees, whichever shall be greater, in an amount to be determined at trial to
Plaintiff and against Defendant, for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action.

COUNT IV — False Advertising - Lanham Act §43(a)(1)(B)

191. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 190, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

192.  ACNA has misrepresented its own services by claiming it has authority to endorse
Anglican Chaplains®.

193.  ACNA has misrepresented Plaintiff’s services by claiming that Plaintiff and its
leaders no longer have authority to endorse Anglican Chaplains®.

194. ACNA’s misrepresentations were made in commerce.

195. ACNA made its false and misleading statements in web publications, emails and
regular mails to Plaintiff’s clients and endorsed chaplains to promote its own services and to

deprecate Plaintiff’s services, and otherwise to further ACNA’s own business advantage.
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196.  On information and belief, ACNA’s misrepresentations were made with malice and
an intent to harm Plaintiff.

197.  Plaintiff has suffered and reasonably believes it is likely to suffer damages from
ACNA’s false and misleading representations.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks the Court permanently to enjoin ACNA from publishing
misrepresentations about Plaintiff, its services and staff, including without limitation enjoining
defendant from the use of the terms “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,”
“Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” “Anglican Chaplains®” and “Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” in interstate commerce, and to award profits or treble damages,
costs, and attorney’s fees, whichever shall be greater, in an amount to be determined at trial to
Plaintiff and against Defendant, for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action.

COUNT V — Violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act

198. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 197, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

199. ACNA'’s unauthorized use of Plaintiff’s former name, its Service Mark, its
Trademark and its Trademarked Logo for the purpose of deceiving Plaintiff’s members and luring
them away from membership in Plaintiff’s organization, is a deceptive practice and competes
unfairly against Plaintiff in trade and commerce.

200. ACNA'’s false claims that it deposed Plaintiff’s bishop from his position and
appointed a new Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy to replace him, are a deceptive

practice.
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201. ACNA’s telephone and email outreach to Plaintiff’s members seeking to persuade
them to leave Plaintiff and join ACNA while publishing false information about itself and Plaintiff
on its website constitute an unfair competitive practice.

202. On information and belief, ACNA’s communications with the AFCB and other
military and civil employers of Anglican Chaplains®, attempting to persuade them that Plaintiff
has lost its ecclesiastical competency to endorse chaplains and that Plaintiff’s bishop has been
deposed from his position and replaced with ACNA’s designee, are deceptive and unfair.

203. ACNA’s claims to have the capacity to endorse chaplains for military and civilian
service were untrue when made.

204. ACNA engaged in deceptive and unfair competitive conduct toward Plaintiff
willfully and with an intention to damage Plaintiff’s reputation and acquire Plaintiff’s members
for itself.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks the Court permanently to enjoin ACNA from publishing
misrepresentations about Plaintiff, its services and staff, including without limitation enjoining
Defendant from the use of the terms “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,”
“Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” “Anglican Chaplains®” and “Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” in interstate commerce, and to award profits or treble damages,
costs, and attorney’s fees, whichever shall be greater, in an amount to be determined at trial to
Plaintiff and against Defendant, for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action.

COUNT VI — Misappropriation of Corporate Identity

205. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 204, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

206. Plaintiff invested substantial time and effort, and millions of dollars, over the course
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of the past eighteen years in building its organizational identity as the ecclesiastical endorsing
organization for Anglican Chaplains®.

207. ACNA is using and/or has used the phrase “Special Jurisdiction of the Armed
Forces and Chaplaincy,” the title “Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” the Phrase
“Anglican Chaplains®” and Plaintiff’s registered logo to make others believe that ACNA has
assumed Plaintiff’s powers and functions.

208. ACNA is using its appointment of a new so-called Bishop of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy to make others believe that Plaintiff’s head, Bishop Jones, is no longer the Bishop of
the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy.

209. ACNA is using and/or has used Plaintiff’s Trademarked Logo and the Trademark
to masquerade as Plaintiff or to act as a successor to Plaintiff’s identity by appropriating Plaintiff’s
trade dress and proprietary names in its online communications with the world.

210. By misusing the names and symbols that are associated with Plaintiff’s services
and identity, ACNA is attempting to appropriate the fruits of Plaintiff’s labor at little or no cost to
itself.

211.  ACNA’s misuse of Plaintiff’s names derives from years of Plaintiff’s service to it
and its members, during which time ACNA and Plaintiff engaged in discussions for Plaintiff to
become fully integrated into ACNA, but which ACNA intentionally delayed and frustrated until
changes in the ACNA’s leadership ended any desire for combination on Plaintiff’s part. ACNA
was only ever authorized to use Plaintiff’s names in connection with Plaintiff itself.

212.  The termination of ACNA’s confidential relationship with Plaintiff ended all rights

of ACNA to use any marks, symbols or proprietary terminology pertaining to Plaintiff’s identity.

40



2:25-cv-12848-BHH Date Filed 12/22/25  Entry Number 35 Page 41 of 54

ACNA'’s current use of those names to supplant Plaintiff, usurp its employer and chaplain
relationships, and end Plaintiff’s independent existence is a violation of law and right.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks the Court permanently to enjoin ACNA from using the terms
“Special Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” and “Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces
and Chaplaincy” and “Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy” and Plaintiff’s protected
marks in interstate commerce and from misleading others about its ability to endorse chaplains for
government service, or Plaintiff’s ability to do so, or about the status of Plaintiff’s president as its
Bishop of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy, and to award damages and punitive damages to
Plaintiff in an amount to be determined at trial but not less than One Million Dollars, plus
Plaintiff’s reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT VII - Tortious Interference With Employer Contracts

213. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 212, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

214. Since 2009, Plaintiff has been designated by the AFCB as the ecclesiastical
endorsing organization for Anglican Chaplains® who serve with the United States Armed Forces.

215. Plaintiff has applied for the aforesaid designation annually and with the approval
of the AFCB, Plaintiff has continuously enjoyed the status of endorsing organization for Anglican
Chaplains® with the AFCB.

216. Plaintiff endorses Anglican Chaplains® from ACNA and other Anglican Provinces.
ACNA chaplains comprise only approximately twenty percent of all chaplains endorsed by
Plaintiff.

217.  On or about September 22, 2025, ACNA contacted the AFCB and represented to

them that the relationship between Plaintiff and ACNA had terminated, and that as a consequence
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Plaintiff no longer possessed the capacity to endorse Anglican Chaplains® belonging to ACNA.
This statement was false: Plaintiff remains ready, willing, and able to endorse ACNA chaplains
(chaplains referred by ACNA, see supra 9 29-30) despite the termination of Plaintiff’s affiliation
with ACNA.

218. As adirect and intended consequence of ACNA’s interference, the AFCB sent a
letter to Plaintiff on September 24, 2025, asserting that Plaintiff no longer fulfilled the
requirements of religious organizations providing religious ministry professionals for service in
the armed forces, and therefor Plaintiff was “being placed in the ‘pending status’ for reapplication
once a suitable Religious Organization is identified and provides written authority to the [Plaintiff]
to act on their behalf.”

219. In essence, ACNA intended to cause the AFCB to end Plaintiff’s capacity to
endorse Anglican Chaplains® for military service and temporarily succeeded in doing so by
inducing the AFCB to demote Plaintiff to “pending status,” i.e., to the status of an applicant for
authority. For a brief time while Plaintiff was in “pending status,” no ecclesiastical endorsing
organization was empowered to endorse Anglican Chaplains® for military service in the U.S.
Armed Forces.

220. On September 26, 2025, the AFCB rescinded its action toward Plaintiff and
removed Plaintiff from “pending status,” following the receipt of communications from Plaintiff.
However, the AFCB rescission indicated uncertainty about the future of Plaintiff’s status. It
contained the following text: “The Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy is a
Department of Defense recognized endorsing agent, but this is an evolving situation, and the

Armed Forces Chaplains Board will be in contact to determine the relationship in the future.”
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221. Despite Plaintiff’s reinstatement, ACNA has continued to publish
misrepresentations about Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s Bishop, and about ACNA’s capacity or planned
capacity to provide chaplain endorsements, to all the Anglican Chaplains® endorsed by Plaintiff
including chaplains unaffiliated with ACNA.

222.  ACNA’s communications with the AFCB and Anglican Chaplains® have injured
the contractual relationship between Plaintiff and the AFCB. They had the short-term effect of
causing Plaintiff’s authority as the ecclesiastical endorsing organization for Anglican Chaplains®
to be suspended. They have had the longer-term effect of creating uncertainty in the AFCB as to
Plaintiff’s qualification to serve as an ecclesiastical endorsing organization, despite Plaintiff’s
continuous designation as such for the past 16 years.

223. On information and belief, ACNA sent the 9/22 Wood Letter to the AFCB with
malice toward Plaintiff, intending to harm Plaintiff.

224.  On information and belief, ACNA has made similar representations about Plaintiff
to other chaplain-employing organizations for the same purposes.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award damages and punitive damages, in
an amount to be determined at trial but no less than One Million Dollars, to Plaintiff and against
Defendant for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action.

COUNT VIII — Tortious Interference with Chaplain Contracts

225. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 224, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

226. More than three hundred Anglican clergy and laypersons who serve as chaplains in
Government service and in other chaplain positions requiring ecclesiastical endorsement have

contracted with Plaintiff to provide them with endorsement.
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227.  ACNA has used deceptive devices, as set forth above, to make Anglican Chaplains®
believe that Plaintiff is no longer able to provide them with ecclesiastical endorsement, and that
either ACNA’s bishop or Vicar General is the new endorsing agent or that chaplains require a new
endorsement and that ACNA will be locating an appropriate new endorsing organization in the
near future.

228.  Plaintiff has received many worried inquiries from Anglican Chaplains® who are
concerned that they have lost their endorsed status with their places of employment and will lose
their livelihoods in the immediate future unless they contact ACNA to arrange for an alternative
endorsement.

229.  Plaintiff has already received requests from one hundred Anglican Chaplains® to
terminate their affiliation with Plaintiff and to transfer their oversight and canonical residence from
Plaintiff to ACNA or another diocese or province of the Anglican Church.

230. ACNA’s misleading publications and its outreach to Anglican Chaplains® who are
in a contractual relationship with Plaintiff are interfering with Plaintiff’s contracts with its
Anglican Chaplains®.

231. Plaintiff’s loss of canonically resident chaplains will result in a diminution of
income to Plaintiff. As a historic hierarchical church organization, JAFC relies on tithes and
offerings for its sustenance. It also relies on chaplains to be a “walking advertisement” of the
ministry, leading to the recruitment of new chaplains and donors.

232.  On information and belief, ACNA’s misrepresentations were made with malice

toward Plaintiff and an intent to harm Plaintiff.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award damages and punitive damages, in
an amount to be determined at trial but no less than One Million Dollars, to Plaintiff and against
Defendant for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action.

COUNT IX — Slander of Title

233. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 232, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

234. Plaintiff possesses valuable intangible property which ACNA has slandered by
casting doubt upon its actual nature and value.

235. Plaintiff’s separate existence as a corporation is a valuable intangible property.
which Plaintiff owns.

236. Plaintiff’s ownership of title to the Service Mark “Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces
and Chaplaincy” is valuable.

237.  Plaintiff’s ownership of title to the Trademark “Anglican Chaplains®” is valuable.

238.  Plaintiff’s ownership of the Trademarked Logo is valuable.

239. Plaintiff’s designation as the ecclesiastical endorsing organization for the U.S.
Department of Defense is a valuable intangible property.

240. Through clever wording, ACNA implied publicly in the 9/23 Wood Letter that
Plaintiff is the same as ACNA’s “Special Jurisdiction” and therefore inalterably a part of ACNA,
by verbally conflating Plaintiff with ACNA’s previously nonexistent, newly-created non-Plaintiff
“Special Jurisdiction.” The purpose of ACNA’s verbal legerdemain was to confuse chaplains and
agencies into thinking that Plaintiff lacked power to operate independently from ACNA, and

therefore ACNA was the rightful endorser of Anglican Chaplains®.
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241. ACNA’s representatives’ publications repeatedly contain such statements as “I
assure you of the continuation of the Special Jurisdiction” and “the Vicar General of the Special
Jurisdiction will serve as the interim endorser of chaplains.” Such statements are misleading
because the endorsements for Anglican Chaplains® have always come from Plaintiff, even before
ACNA was formed in 2009.

242.  ACNA’s representatives stated, and continue to state, that Plaintiff lacks the
capacity (a matter that is determined by government regulation) to serve as the ecclesiastical
endorsing organization for ACNA-affiliated chaplains.

243.  ACNA'’s misstatements about Plaintiff diminish the value of Plaintiff’s valuable
intangible properties.

244,  On information and belief, ACNA’s misstatements have been made with malice
and with an intent to harm Plaintiff.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award damages and punitive damages, in
an amount to be determined at trial but no less than One Million Dollars, to Plaintiff and against
Defendant for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action.

COUNT X — Conversion of Proprietary Information

245.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 244, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

246.  On information and belief, ACNA used financial pressure to coerce Lawrence and
Megan McElrath to betray their responsibilities to Plaintiff and to persuade them and others to
access JAFC’s confidential business information between September 16 and September 23, 2025,

and transfer such information to ACNA.
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247. The McElraths had access to confidential files of JAFC in their capacity as
employees of JAFC. So did Jay Cayangyang, who was an official of JAFC, and Rich West, who
as a member of JAFC held a post with the U.S. military.

248. Plaintiff is the owner of the JAFC Proprietary Information. It collected and
assembled the JAFC Proprietary Information over the course of many years and uses it as an
essential resource in the conduct of its daily activities.

249. The JAFC Proprietary Information is confidential information that Plaintiff does
not intentionally share with others. In many cases, such information is private to individuals who
are involved with Plaintiff and its disclosure injures such individuals, with a resulting loss of the
individuals’ confidence in Plaintiff.

250. On information and belief, ACNA has been using JAFC Proprietary Information
obtained as set forth above and in other ways to contact JAFC’s members and chaplains and its
business partners for the purpose of destroying JAFC’s relationships with them and usurping such
relationships for ACNA’s own benefit. These uses are inconsistent with Plaintiff’s rights and are
harmful to Plaintiff.

251. Individual JAFC members provided sensitive and private information to JAFC with
an understanding that JAFC would treat it as private information and would not disclose it to
anyone else. Neither JAFC nor the individual members of JAFC consented to the provision of
sensitive private information concerning JAFC’s members to ACNA.

252. ACNA knew that it had no right to access the JAFC Proprietary Information, but it
converted such information to its own use anyway for the specific purpose of harming Plaintiff

and competing unfairly with Plaintiff.

47



2:25-cv-12848-BHH Date Filed 12/22/25  Entry Number 35 Page 48 of 54

253.  ACNA’s conversion of the JAFC Proprietary Information deprived Plaintiff of its
exclusive control over such information.

254. ACNA converted the JAFC Proprietary Information intentionally and maliciously,
with an intent to use such information to harm Plaintiff.

255. Plaintiff has suffered, and will continue to suffer, serious economic harm in an
amount to be determined at trial but in excess of one million dollars, from the conversion of its
confidential and proprietary information.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award damages and punitive damages, in
an amount to be determined at trial but no less than One Million Dollars, to Plaintiff and against
Defendant for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action; and requests that the Court enter an
injunction permanently barring ACNA from using such information and requiring ACNA to
destroy any such information that is in its possession or control.

COUNT XI — Violation of Defend Trade Secrets Act, 18 U.S.C. Section 1836

256. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 255, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

257. The JAFC Proprietary Information qualifies as a trade secret under the federal
Defend Trade Secrets Act, 18 U.S.C. Section 1836.

258. The JAFC Proprietary Information relates to a service used in interstate and foreign
commerce, namely in the provision of religious chaplaincy services to persons involved in military
or government or other civil services throughout the United States and the rest of the world.

259. Plaintiff has suffered actual loss caused by ACNA’s misappropriation of the JAFC

Proprietary Information.
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260. ACNA has been unjustly enriched by its misappropriation of Plaintiff’s trade
secrets in an amount that is not addressed in computing damages for JAFC’s actual loss.

261. ACNA acted willfully and maliciously in misappropriating Plaintiff’s trade secrets,
entitling Plaintiff to an award of exemplary damages and reasonable attorney’s fees.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award damages and punitive damages, in
an amount to be determined at trial but no less than One Million Dollars, to Plaintiff and against
Defendant for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action; and requests that the Court enter an
injunction permanently barring ACNA from using such information and requiring ACNA to
destroy any such information that is in its possession or control.

COUNT XII — Violation of South Carolina Trade Secrets Act

262. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 261, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

263. The JAFC Proprietary Information qualifies as a trade secret under the South
Carolina Trade Secrets Act, S.C. Code Ann. § § 39-8-10, et seq., for the following reasons:

a. The JAFC Proprietary Information includes sensitive and private information
concerning Plaintiff’s members, including, inter alia, their identities, details of
their employments, their home and work addresses, birthdates, contact details
including telephone numbers and email addresses, medical and pharmaceutical
histories, details concerning their spouses and children, answers to questions
concerning criminal history, drug and alcohol use, sexual histories, financial
resources, work histories, military service histories and religious confessions;

b. The JAFC Proprietary Information includes information concerning past and

present military, governmental or ecclesiastical employers of Plaintiff’s
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members, including issues that the employers have faced and are facing with
finances, congregants, and members of the military and civilian workforce to
whom Plaintiff’s members minister; and
c. The JAFC Proprietary Information has economic value to the Plaintiff and to
ACNA because it is not generally known to, or readily ascertainable by property
means by the public or any other person.
264. Plaintiff has undertaken reasonable efforts to maintain the secrecy of the JAFC
Proprietary Information.
265. ACNA'’s misappropriation and use of the JAFC Proprietary Information has
damaged Plaintiff in an amount to be determined at trial, but not less than one million dollars.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court award damages and punitive damages, in
an amount to be determined at trial but no less than One Million Dollars, to Plaintiff and against
Defendant for the conduct set forth in this Cause of Action; and requests that the Court enter an
injunction permanently barring ACNA from using such information and requiring ACNA to
destroy any such information that is in its possession or control.

COUNT XIII — Permanent Injunction

266. Plaintiff repeats and realleges herein every allegation stated above in Paragraphs 1
through 265, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

267. As a result of Defendant’s wrongful appropriation of Plaintiff’s registered marks,
its masquerade using Plaintiff’s identity, and its interference with Plaintiff’s contracts, Plaintiff
has suffered and will continue to suffer immediate and irreparable harm for which no adequate

remedy at law exists.
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268. Under Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and 15 U.S.C. §1116
(enforcement of rights against trademark infringement and unfair competition), Plaintiff is entitled
to injunctive relief restraining ACNA from using Plaintiff’s Service Mark “Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” Plaintiff’s original corporate name “Special Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” Plaintiff’s Trademark “Anglican Chaplains®,” Plaintiff’s
Trademarked Logo, and the title of Plaintiff’s head, the “Bishop of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy,” from representing that Bishop Jones is no longer the ”Bishop of the Armed Forces
and Chaplaincy” or that ACNA has replaced him in that position, from representing that Plaintiff
lacks the capacity to endorse Anglican Chaplains® who originate from ACNA or any other
Anglican diocese or province, from slandering Plaintiff or Bishop Jones in private or public and
from threatening or recruiting any chaplains, mission, chapels or parishes that are in or under
Plaintiff’s jurisdiction.

269. Defendant’s recent intense onslaught of press releases, webposts, media interviews,
and direct correspondence and telephone calls to Plaintiff’s member chaplains and churches and
their advisors is causing immediate and irreparable harm to Plaintiff’s business reputation and
goodwill. Plaintiff’s expertise comes from long experience in the building and supervision of an
Anglican community based on careful adherence to government regulation and ecclesiastical rules.
Plaintiff’s good reputation comes from its leaders’ decades-long path of scrupulous respect for
public, interpersonal, ecclesiastical and commercial relationships, and of respecting contracts and
authorities, both secular and sacred. Due to these factors, Plaintiff’s corps of chaplains and related
chapels, missions and parishes has grown slowly but steadily over time and has been recognized

as one of the great success stories on North American Anglicanism.
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270. Derek Jones, who is Plaintiff’s founder, bishop and president, has devoted the past
eighteen years of his life to build a corps of Anglican Chaplains® to serve the U.S. armed forces
and other government agencies. In two weeks, ACNA’s campaign of vilification has destroyed
his good name in the eyes of many people in the Anglican community, especially those who knew
of him not personally, but solely by reputation.

271.  ACNA’s campaign of misappropriation, vilification, and competition impedes and
interferes with Plaintiff’s provision of services to its existing clients and to its member chaplains
and churches.

272.  Unless ACNA is restrained and enjoined from its illegal and unfair competitive
conduct, Plaintiff will lose a substantial amount of goodwill, professional reputation, market share,
income and contracts, for which no adequate remedy at law exists.

273.  Currently, Plaintiff employs fourteen individuals. Those individuals’ livelihoods
are also now at risk.

274. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1116, Plaintiff is entitled to a rebuttable presumption that it
will suffer irreparable harm from ACNA’s violation of its rights under federal trademark and unfair
competition laws.

275.  Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer immediate and irreparable harm
without an injunction to return the Parties back to the status quo.

276. Injunctive relief is in the public interest because the public has an interest in
enforcing clear and unambiguous intellectual property rights and preventing unfair and deceptive
market practices.

277. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1116, Plaintiff is also entitled to a court order requiring the

Defendant to report within 30 days as to its compliance with the Court’s injunction.
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278.  Further, the public has an interest in protecting and promoting the stable and
unimpeded employment of members of its armed forces and civilian agencies as Anglican
Chaplains®, which ACNA’s actions have disrupted and are disrupting.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests a permanent injunction restraining ACNA from:

a. using Plaintiff’s Service Mark “Jurisdiction of the Armed Forces and
Chaplaincy,” Plaintiff’s original corporate name “Special Jurisdiction of the
Armed Forces and Chaplaincy,” Plaintiff’s Trademark “Anglican Chaplains®,”
Plaintiff’s Trademarked Logo, and the title of Plaintiff’s head, the “Bishop of
the Armed Forces and Chaplaincy”;

b. representing that Bishop Jones is no longer the ”Bishop of the Armed Forces
and Chaplaincy” or that ACNA has replaced him in that position,

c. representing that Plaintiff lacks the capacity to endorse Anglican Chaplains®
who originate from ACNA or any other Anglican diocese or province,

d. slandering Plaintiff or Bishop Jones in private or public and

e. threatening or recruiting any chaplains, mission, chapels or parishes that are in
or under Plaintiff’s jurisdiction.

Finally, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court also award Plaintiff fees, costs, and

such other relief the Court deems just and proper.

[Signature on following page]
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Respectfully submitted,

/s/Vordman Carlisle Traywick, II1
Vordman Carlisle Traywick, I1I (12483)
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